#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## CHARLES BURNWATT and DEBRA BURNWATT, As Parents and Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of WILLIAM ALEXANDER BURNWATT, Deceased

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2008-IA-01563 -SCT

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- Whether the defendants, having stipulated and consented to entry of a final judgment that the former defendant hospital and its employees "were not in any manner negligent .... [nor] committed any acts of omissions/commission which caused or contributed to cause the plaintiffs' alleged damages,"<sup>1</sup> may now take an inconsistent position and introduce evidence that hospital employees caused the decedent's death.
- 2. Whether, after summary judgment for the former defendant hospital and summary judgment dismissing all claims by defendant doctor attempting to place blame for the death on the hospital, evidence offered to prove that hospital employees' resuscitation efforts caused the child's death is admissible.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;R.179-180, R.E.20-21.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

This action arises from the death of Alex Burnwatt, the nine year old son of the plaintiffs Charles and Debra Burnwatt. Alex died on August 2, 2001, following a tonsillectomy on July 28, 2001, performed by the defendant John F. Laurenzo. The lawsuit was initially filed against Dr. Laurenzo and his clinic Ear, Nose & Throat Consultants of North Mississippi, and against Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi ["BMH-NM"]. Record at page 1 [hereinafter "R.1"]. The complaint alleged generally that in performing the tonsillectomy, Dr. Laurenzo was negligent, more particularly in cutting too deeply into the tonsillar bed, and that this negligence led to Alex's death. The complaint also alleged that when Alex began bleeding as a result of the defendant Laurenzo's negligence, the hospital was negligent in failing to stop the bleeding. Alex died shortly after being re-admitted to his hospital room at BMH-NM, and efforts to resuscitate, which went on for over an hour, were unsuccessful. Complaint, R. 2-3.

The defendants Laurenzo and his clinic<sup>2</sup> answered and denied liability; they further asserted an affirmative defense to the effect that the plaintiff's injuries were caused and/or contributed to by persons other than the defendants. R.79. The defendant hospital also denied liability and claimed that the plaintiff's damages "may be the direct and proximate result of acts or omissions of other persons or entities for whom BMH-NM is not legally responsible." R.86.

Inasmuch as the interests of the defendants Laurenzo and his clinic are identical for purposes of this appeal, the two may be referred to collectively as "the defendant" or "Laurenzo."

After discovery, the defendant hospital moved for summary judgment, claiming that the "material facts as to which there is no genuine issue establish that the requisite elements of a *prima facie* case of medical negligence against this Defendant are absent, i.e. duty, breach of duty, causation, damages." R.152. The Burnwatts had propounded interrogatories to the co-defendant Laurenzo requesting the identity of each and every person Dr. Laurenzo intended to call as an expert, together with the subject matter of the expert's expected testimony, the substance of the facts and opinions to which that expert was expected to testify, and a summary of the grounds for such opinion. As noted in the trial court's opinion on the motion, the defendant Laurenzo identified no expert critical of the care rendered by BMH-NM. R.177-178; R.E.18-19.

At the hearing on the hospital's motion for summary judgment, counsel for both the Burnwatts and the defendant Laurenzo declared that no expert testimony was anticipated from either the plaintiff or the defendants critical of BMH-NM or of the care rendered by the hospital's staff or that any actions of BMH employees caused the death of Alex Burnwatt. Further, the parties noted that Dr. Laurenzo had been deposed and had testified that everything was done appropriately during the resuscitation efforts by the hospital. Order on Summary Judgment, R.178; R.E.19.

The trial court's order on the summary judgment motion recited the fact that plaintiffs' counsel had advised the court that unless "Dr. Laurenzo intends to 'point the finger' at Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi personnel in any respect," the plaintiffs would confess the motion for summary judgment as to the hospital. R.179; R.E.20. Dr. Laurenzo professed that he would not "point the

finger" at the hospital. R. 179; R.E.20. Accordingly, the Court granted the hospital's motion for summary judgment and entered a final judgment of dismissal as to the defendant hospital, expressly finding that there was no just reason for delay and that final judgment should be entered. R.179-180, R.E.20-21. That order was entered, with approval of the defendant Laurenzo, on June 6, 2005. R.180, R.E.21.

The Order on the hospital's motion for summary judgment states as follows:

At the hearing on this matter, both counsel for the Plaintiff and counsel for the co-Defendants, John Laurenzo, M.D. and the Mississippi Ear, Nose & Throat Consultants of North Mississippi, P.L.L.C., declared that no expert testimony is anticipated from either of these parties, which testimony is critical of Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi or of the care rendered by the Hospital's nursing staff and/or employees.

. . .

The Court having taken Dr. Laurenzo's testimony [disclaiming any negligence by the hospital] as true, therefore, finds that there exists no genuine issue as to any material fact that **neither Baptist** Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi nor its employees were in any manner negligent and/or committed any acts of omission/commission which caused or contributed to cause the Plaintiffs' alleged damages.

Court Opinion on Baptist Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 178-79, R.E.19-20.

Subsequently, on July 11, 2005, only a month after the defendants'

profession that he would have no expert testimony critical of the defendant

hospital, Dr. Laurenzo filed a "Designation of Expert Witness," for the first time

indicating his intention to call Dr. Keith Mansel as a trial witness. R. 193-94. The

Designation further stated that Dr. Mansel would express the opinion that Alex's

death was "due to the resuscitation attempts [of BMH employees]." Designation

of Expert Witnesses, R.193. As a result of Dr. Laurenzo's designation of an

expert against the defendant hospital, one month after stating that there was no evidence that the defendant hospital was negligent, the plaintiffs filed a motion for relief from the summary judgment order. R.181.

The Court continued the trial of the case, then set for August 15, 2005, but refused to set aside the order of dismissal as to the defendant hospital. R. 452-53; R.E.50-51.

The Burnwatts also moved for partial summary judgment on the defendant Laurenzo's claim for apportionment of damages as to the hospital. R. 373-403; R.E.22-43. The trial court granted that motion, finding, consistently with its previous order dismissing the hospital, that there was no evidence that any act or omission by the defendant hospital had proximately caused or contributed to the death of Alex Burnwatt, R.446-51, R.E.44-49. The Court's order is as follows:

The Court has previously adjudicated that BMH-NM, a non-settling defendant, was guilty of no negligence which contributed to the death of William Alexander Burnwatt. It follows that the co-defendants Dr. Laurenzo and ENT Consultants should not now be permitted to place blame or apportion fault on a co-defendant which the Court had previously adjudicated not to be at fault and accordingly dismissed with prejudice from this law suit.

[Further], [t[here is no genuine issue of material fact that the dismissed Defendant BMH-NM or its employees were negligent or that their actions proximately caused or contributed to the Plaintiffs' damages and that the Defendants Laurenzo and ENT Consultants should not be permitted to place blame or allocate fault to BMH-NM or its employees.

Order on Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, R. 449-50, R.E.47-48.

However, the trial court nevertheless overruled the plaintiffs' motion in

limine seeking to exclude the proposed testimony of Dr. Mansel blaming the

hospital for Alex Burnwatt's death. See Plaintiffs' motion in limine, R. 196-202.

The case then proceeded to trial, during which the court allowed testimony by Dr. Keith Mansel placing blame on the defendant hospital employees for causing Alex's death. Dr. Mansel was allowed to testify for approximately two hours regarding his opinion that Alex Burnwatt died as a result of actions of the hospital employees during resuscitation efforts. Transcript 312-326 [hereinafter - "T.312-326, 300-365"]. Although the jury was instructed that no acts or omission of the hospital "before, during, or after the code caused or contributed in any way to the death of Alex Burnwatt,"<sup>3</sup> defense counsel for Dr. Laurenzo spent most of his closing argument putting the blame on Alex's death on the hospital's puncture of Alex's lungs during resuscitation and other events during the resuscitation. T. 441-456.

After introduction of this irrelevant but confusing and prejudicial testimony, the jury was unable to reach a verdict, and a mistrial was declared. R.518.

This matter was again set for trial on September 2, 2008. R.521. Prior to the new trial date, the plaintiffs renewed their motion in limine to exclude the testimony of Dr. Keith Mansel. R.732-737; R.E.52-57. By order dated August 29, 2008, the trial court denied the plaintiffs' renewed motion to exclude the testimony of Dr. Keith Mansel but granted a continuance of the trial to allow the matter to proceed to an interlocutory appeal before this Honorable Court. R. 900-903, R.E.7-10. This Honorable Court granted interlocutory appeal on the issue presented by the plaintiff's motion to exclude the testimony of Dr. Keith Mansel. R.908, 911-912; R.E.11-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>T. 418.

#### Statement of Facts

r .

On July 28, 2001, nine year old Alex Burnwatt underwent a tonsillectomy performed by Dr. John Laurenzo at BMH-NM. R. 75-76 [Amended Complaint], R.81 [Answer]. The surgery took about forty-five minutes, twice as long as the surgery on the Burnwatts' younger son on whom Dr. Laurenzo had operated some months previously. R. 33. Alex was discharged from the hospital on the same day as the surgery, despite the fact that he was vomiting. T. 34-35. He continued to vomit when he attempted to take in food or water. T. 35. Mrs. Burnwatt called the doctor's office on Monday or Tuesday after the Saturday surgery and reported Alex's condition and that Alex would not eat. The doctor's office called in a prescription for Phenergan to attempt to control the nausea and vomiting. T. 35.

Alex continued to vomit and was unable to take food or liquids. Accordingly, on August 2, 2001, Debra Burnwatt called Dr. Laurenzo's office and talked to his nurse, inasmuch as Dr. Laurenzo was out of town. T. 36-7. The nurse recommended that Mrs. Burnwatt return Alex to the hospital, without any indications that this was an emergency situation. Mrs. Burnwatt loaded her son into the car and drove him from Clarksdale back to Oxford, where he was taken to a hospital room at 11:50 a.m. T. 37, 312.

There was a nurse present in the room and, as they were trying to get him into bed in preparation for hydrating him, Alex began to cough about 11:55. T. 312. He began spitting up blood. He coughed again, ran from the hospital room towards the bathroom area to a trash can and vomited bright red blood. He came back towards the bed, becoming panicked and still coughing and began projectile vomiting bright red blood. T. 312-13. The walls of the room were spattered with

blood; the floor, sink, toilet, trash can, all had large amounts of blood. T. 37. Alex collapsed on the bed and a nurse called a crash cart to try to revive him, some five minutes after Alex started coughing. T. 313. Despite the best efforts of hospital personnel, Alex Burnwatt could not be revived.

The nurse testified that hospital personnel never obtained a heart rate after starting chest compressions, which they performed, alternating, for over an hour. She said they obtained a sinus rhythm for "probably less than 30 seconds" at one point. T. 350. Alex Burnwatt simply could not be resuscitated.

Plaintiffs' expert witness testified that Dr. Laurenzo's surgical technique cut too deeply into the tonsillar tissue, causing a larger surgical wound than normal, all below the standard of care. When Alex became dehydrated and began coughing, the scab was dislodged, and Alex bled significantly. The testimony of witnesses described projectile vomiting of blood, with Alex vomiting blood into the trash can, over the walls, and into the sink. T. 66. The plaintiffs' expert opined that in a small percentage of cases, bleeding does occur post-tonsillectomy, but that the normal post-tonsillectomy bleed is superficial and can be treated easily for hours with ice packs or gargles to attempt to stop the bleed. Then, if the bleeding continues, surgery may be necessary to stop the bleed.

The plaintiffs' expert, Dr. Burton, testified that the bleeding described by witnesses to Alex's death was not this type of slow bleed. The bleeding suffered by Alex was the result of a too deep dissection of the right tonsil and injury to the deeper blood vessels. T. 67-68. The autopsy report confirmed this opinion, reporting injury erosion and lacerations of a branch of the carotid artery. T. 69-70.

A complicating factor is that there is no accurate report of Dr. Laurenzo's surgery on Alex Burnwatt. Dr. Laurenzo testified that the operative report does not accurately describe the surgery he performed. Dr. Laurenzo testified that he had a standard "operative note" that he directed the personnel typing his operative reports to always use. The operative report on Alex states that Dr. Laurenzo used a blade or a knife on the right tonsil. Dr. Laurenzo now contends that he did not in fact use a blade; that this was taken from his standard operative report, and that that report is mistaken in referring to the use of a knife. Dr. Laurenzo says that he never uses a blade in performing tonsillectomies, although virtually all of his operative reports state that he did so. Thus, there is no actual record of what was done during Alex's surgery. T. 26, T. 64.

The defendants propose to use Dr. Mansel's testimony to argue that it was the resuscitation efforts of the hospital personnel that led to Alex's death. Defense counsel admitted in his opening statement on the first trial that Alex did cough a "scab" off of his right tonsillar bed, causing him to bleed. T. 28, 313. Dr. Mansel contends that Alex vomited, threw up blood, and then sucked the blood into his lungs. He testified that Alex got nervous and was running around the room after he aspirated blood and finally collapsed on the bed at 12:00 noon. T. 315. The nurse began bagging him, providing oxygen. Dr. Mansel testified that Dr. Lamb (the Hospital ER doctor), who arrived later, used a laryngoscope to look in the throat and removed a large clot, which Dr. Mansel opined had obstructed Alex's breathing. T. 28, 315.

Dr. Mansel further would be expected to testify, as he did in the first trial, that hospital personnel then intubated Alex and began to put oxygen into the wind

pipe. He claimed that they obtained a slight pulse at that time, but the pulse was lost again. They began chest compressions and attempted to get an IV going. It is then, according to Dr. Mansel, that at about 12:10 p.m. the hospital ER doctor had difficulty getting a central line going and tore the internal jugular vein, causing swelling in the neck. T. 316-17. He further opined that Dr. Lamb also punctured the right lung in attempting to get the central line started. Dr. Mansel was further of the opinion that after the right lung was punctured, the bagging efforts of the hospital personnel caused the left lung to also "pop" a leak, resulting in a bilateral pneumothorax, or collapse of both lungs. T. 321-322.

After receiving an x-ray report of the bilateral lung collapse, Dr. Lamb inserted chest tubes to drain the air out. This worked to some extent on the right, but on the left, more air was shown on a later x-ray, a tension pneumothorax. Dr. Mansel testified that this meant that the lung had collapsed enough that it was causing the heart and major vessels to "collapse down" because "you have all this air squeezing down and so they are trying to do CPR . . . but the blood can't get back to the heart because of these tension pneumothoraces." T. 322-23. Dr. Mansel puts Alex's death on a "series of things [that] happened" after Alex's coughing spell and initial collapse on the bed without a pulse. T. 323.

Dr. Mansel, however, has himself admitted that although he thinks the pneumothoraces "strongly contributed to his death," Alex may well have died even without the collapsed lung:

It could be that he occluded his airway, his oxygen level dropped and even though we regained a pulse that without the pneumothoraces that the end process of his demise would have been the same.

Dr. Mansel testimony, Transcript 356.

On deposition, Dr. Mansel could not say to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that without the pneumothoraces, Alex could have survived. T. 357-58.

Although the jury was twice instructed at the first trial that no acts or omission of the hospital "before, during, or after the code caused or contributed in any way to the death of Alex Burnwatt,"<sup>4</sup> the Court allowed Dr. Mansel to testify for hours as to his opinion that it was the puncture of the lung by the hospital ER doctor that caused the pneumothoraces that, in his opinion, significantly contributed to Alex's death. R. 356.

The trial court recognized that any events occurring during medical treatment necessitated by the defendants' actions are as a matter of law not superseding events, and that the defendants are responsible even for subsequent medical malpractice during treatment necessitated by their negligence. Given this, the testimony of Dr. Mansel is not only irrelevant but also overly prejudicial and confusing to a jury.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Jury Instructions, T. 418 paragraphs 1 and 2.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The defendants' previous stipulation that no acts or omissions of the hospital caused or contributed to the death of Alex Burnwatt bars the defendants from making the argument they now attempt to make. The plaintiffs relied on the defendants' stipulation and consent to the judgment dismissing the hospital, and the lower court entered partial summary judgment dismissing any claim by the defendant doctor that any actions of the hospital contributed to Alex's death. The defendants are therefore estopped from attempting to attribute Alex's death to anything that occurred during the resuscitation efforts.

The judgment dismissing the hospital was certified as a Rule 54(b) final judgment, as to which no appeal was taken. It is therefore final and binding and is the law of this case. The defendants' attempts now to assess responsibility to the hospital are improper as contrary to the established law of this case.

Dr. Mansel's proffered expert opinion that the death was caused by events occurring during the resuscitation are irrelevant, extremely confusing to the jury, and prejudicial to the plaintiffs. This evidence is an attempt to backdoor in a theory of causation that has already been ruled out of the case.

Moreover, the law has long been clear that a tortfeasor is liable for all reasonably foreseeable consequences of his actions, including the negligence of individuals attempting to assist the plaintiff. Untoward events occurring during medical rescue attempts are not as a matter of law superseding acts that relieve the defendant of responsibility. In Mississippi, it is well-settled that even subsequent medical malpractice occurring during treatment necessitated by the defendants'

actions is not a superseding intervening cause of an injured party's damages. Medlin v. Hazelhurst Emergency Physicians, 889 So.2d 496, 499 (Miss. 2004).

The plaintiffs' claims in this case are based on Dr. Laurenzo's negligent surgical technique, which caused Alex to bleed excessively. The plaintiffs' expert testified that the bleeding described by the witnesses and the autopsy report led to the conclusion that the tonsillar bed had been cut too deeply, causing the overwhelming bleeding episode that led to the code and to Alex's death. Whatever the precise mechanism of Alex Burnwatt's death in his room at Baptist Hospital on August 2, 2001, the cause of his condition necessitating treatment that day was Dr. Laurenzo's negligent surgical technique. Alex died as a result of the coughing episode, whether by exsanguination or pulmonary arrest, and the hospital then attempted to revive him. No one, even Dr. Mansel, claims that the hospital employees acted negligently or inappropriately. T. 418. Whatever happened during the resuscitation efforts did not cause Alex's death. It was Dr. Laurenzo's surgical technique that brought Alex to the point of needing the code and, as a matter of law, the tortfeasor is liable for any events occurring during this medical treatment.

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