# 2008-IA-01563-SCTE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1.	Charles Burnwatt and Debra Burnwatt, as Parents of Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of William Alexander Burnwatt, Deceased	Appellant
2.	John H. Cocke, Esq.	Counsel for Appellants
3.	Charles M. Merkel, Esq.	Counsel for Appellants
4.	Cynthia I Mitchell Esq.	Counsel for Appellants

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court did not abuse its discretion in denying Plaintiffs' renewed motion to exclude the testimony of Dr. Keith Mansel.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The "proper standard of review for the admission or exclusion of testimony, including expert testimony, is abuse of discretion." *City of Jackson v. Estate of Stewart*, 908 So. 2d 703, 708 (Miss. 2005). "Where error involves the admission or exclusion of evidence, this Court will not reverse unless the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party." *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So. 2d 110 (Miss. 1999).

#### **ARGUMENT**

ARGUMENT:

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN DENYING Plaintiffs ' RENEWED
MOTION TO EXCLUDE DR. KEITH MANSEL

The narrow issue now before this Court concerns the admissibility of testimony by Defendants' expert Keith Mansel. Dr. Mansel provided testimony during the first trial of this cause over the objection of the Plaintiffs concerning the medical events surrounding Alex Burnwatt's death and, in the process, detailed his disagreements with state pathologist Stephen Hayne's finding that Alex actually bled to death on August 2, 2001, the entire premise upon which this case is based. The lower court denied Defendants' initial motion to exclude Mansel's testimony prior to the first trial and, after hearing that testimony in its entirety [Tr. at pp. 300-365], denied the renewed motion to exclude Mansel. R. 900-903. Whether the lower court abused its discretion in ruling that Mansel's testimony was relevant, reliable and not unfairly prejudicial is the sole issue before this Court. Plaintiffs' submission to this Court seeks to substitute their

notion of relevancy for the one properly employed by the trial judge in this case. To reach this position, Plaintiffs posit two arguments: (1) that Mansel's testimony was inconsistent with the prior order of the lower court dismissing BMH-NM and therefore inadmissable (and/or Defendants were estopped from presenting said testimony); and (2) that Mansel's testimony is legally irrelevant pursuant to the Restatement of Torts (Second) Section 457. Prior to addressing these arguments, Defendants need present the procedural background giving rise to the current issue on appeal.

#### A. The June 6, 2005 Order

While Plaintiffs characterize the June 6 2005 order of the lower court granting the Hospital defendant summary judgment a "stipulation" throughout their submission, [Brief of Appellant at 12; 15; 22] that description falls far from the mark. As this record makes abundantly clear, from the filing of this action through the filing of BMH-NM's Motion for Summary Judgment, plaintiffs contended that the Hospital was negligent in connection with the care of the plaintiffs' decedent according to their theory of the case (excessive bleeding) as well as any other possible grounds later discovered. R. 1-4, Complaint at ¶ 10 ("failing to exercise appropriate care"). Despite the allegations of the Hospital's independent negligent acts or omissions, as of May, 2005, Plaintiffs' had failed to secure the services of a competent witness to support their position that the hospital was generally negligent, much less particularly so as regards Alex Burnwatt's "excessive bleeding," Plaintiffs' theory of the case. With trial looming, Plaintiffs failure to obtain an expert against the hospital was the lapse that occasioned the filing of a motion for summary judgment by BMH-NM which was subsequently granted.

Despite a clear record now before this Court of this lapse, Plaintiffs assert that

failing to respond to the Hospital's Motion with expert testimony necessary to defeat summary judgment was justified by the personal opinions of Dr. Laurenzo (when deposed as a fact witness)<sup>4</sup> because Dr. Laurenzo stated that he saw nothing wrong with the care provided by the hospital. The support for Plaintiffs continual reliance on this personal opinion by a co-defendant (not even in the hospital on the day in question) becomes even more anemic once one considers the fact that Plaintiffs presented the testimony of Dr. Hayne at trial who opined that the cause of death could have been the result of actions taken by the medical staff at the hospital. Supplemental Transcript pp 17-19, R.E. 2, presented to the jury on June 4, 2007.

Plaintiffs' counsel knew that the advantage arguably gained from releasing the Hospital after failing to prove their case against this defendant would be all but lost if the lower court refused to prevent Defendants from presenting their theory of the case. Thus, the order granting judgment to the hospital becomes to the advocate a "stipulation" from which estoppel consequences may result. The lower court understood that such a result could not be countenanced, particularly after Plaintiffs own proof provided a basis for the jury determining that Alex's death was the result of the efforts taken by the hospital to revive him. Whether those efforts were heroic or blameworthy was not an obligation that Defendants had to shoulder; the lower court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Personal opinions, even of a physician, are incompetent proof of medical malpractice since the specific standard of medical conduct which must be met is measured objectively. *Phillips v. Hull*, 516 So. 2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987). Such personal opinion medical testimony is clearly an incompetent basis from which Plaintiffs may rely to fashion their model of proof. See *Meek v. Shepard*, 484 A.2d 579 (D.C.App. 1984); *McNabb v. Landis*, 479 S.E.2d 194 (Ga. App. 1996) (personal opinions of physician as to care he would have provided plaintiff inadmissable); *Dine v. Williams*, 830 S.W.2d 453 (Mo. App. 1992) (opinion based upon personal standards rather than established standard of care inadmissable)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This same language found its way into the instructions to the jury [p-12] over the objections of Defendants. Tr. 379-385.

understood that simple proposition. Yet, while acknowledging the rights of the Defendants to present their case, it likewise instructed the jury over objection of the Defendants that "no actions of omission or commission by any employee of BMH-NM during or after the code caused or contributed in any way to the death of Alex Burnwatt or the plaintiffs' damages." And while this was error, it was invited by Plaintiffs and should not form the predicate for now attacking the lower court's ruling on the admissibility of Mansel's testimony.

In sum, Plaintiffs failed to obtain an expert against the Hospital and approved the order prepared by the Hospital's attorney to the effect that no employee of the hospital contributed to the death of Alex Burnwatt. Plaintiffs then took every effort to make use of this order work as a sword to preclude relevant probative proof about the circumstances surrounding his death over the continuing objection of the Defendants. Defendants' position here remains as it has been at all times relevant below: the order should not have been read to the jury; it does not have preclusive effects that may deprive these parties of due process of law and Mansel's testimony is relevant, probative and material to the ultimate question of whether Defendants did or did not breach the standard of care or was the cause of death of Alex Burnwatt.

#### B. Dr. Mansel's Testimony in Context

Plaintiffs' entire case against Dr. Laurenzo hinges on the testimony of Dr. Burton who, in turn, rests her opinion entirely upon (1) former [and now discredited] state pathologist Stephen Haynes' conclusion concerning the manner of Alex Burnwatt's death (exsanguation), supplemented at trial with, (2) the testimony of witnesses in the hospital *during the Code*. As the record makes clear, Dr. Burton was allowed to testify

at trial about the possibility that defendant Laurenzo's alleged tearing of plaintiffs' decedents' jugular vein was the proximate cause of his death and that this alleged error is exactly what plaintiffs' counsel pointed to as the reason the case should go to the jury. Tr. at 114-115. How Dr. Mansel's opinion to the contrary could be excluded defies common sense.

#### C. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 457 (1965)

Plaintiffs argue that the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 457 (1965) support the proposition that regardless of what happened during the code, such evidence is irrelevant as Alex Burnwatt's bleeding resulted from Laurenzo's preceding negligence—had he not been bleeding, the resuscitation efforts would never have been undertaken. Apart from the fact that this argument assumes that which has yet to be proven [Defendants' negligence] and is, to that extent, logically fallacious, this attempted legal slight of hand is also predicated upon a gross misapprehension of the proof in this case, to wit:

- (A) Alex Burnwatt went to the Hospital *for dehydration not bleeding*, eight days after the surgery. Tr. at 65 (Burton). At the time of his admission he was not actively bleeding; rather, the evidence was just the opposite. Tr. at 94-95, R.E. 3 (hemodynamically stable; no active bleeding); and,
- (B) there is no testimony from anyone in this case that resuscitation efforts were commenced because Alex Burnwatt was bleeding; resuscitation efforts were commenced because Alex was not breathing. Tr. at 276-77 (Dr. Ford Dye);

Mansel's testimony is consistent with Plaintiffs 'Exhibit 1 (plaintiffs' decedent's medical records) as well as the testimony of all medical personnel actually in

attendance on August 2, 2001. Tr. 312-326. It is likewise consistent with medical personnel in attendance on August 2, 2001, who did not testify at trial. R. 803-12, R.E. 4, (Lydia Moak).

Nor does the Restatement support plaintiffs' motion to exclude Mansel. Section 457 renders an actor who negligently *injures* another liable for any additional bodily harm resulting from normal efforts of third persons in rendering aid. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 457. The purpose of this Section is to compensate the injured party for injuries sustained as a result of medical treatment which is required *because of the initial injury*. See Restatement (Second) of Torts §457 (comments a and b).

Needless to say, while Plaintiffs are entitled to argue their theory that these defendants' injured Alex Burnwatt on July 28, 2001, Defendants have just as much right to present the opinion of Mansel as to what proximately caused Alex Burnwatt's death. A tonsillectomy is not transformed into an "injury" within the meaning of the Restatement simply because it preceded the hospitalization. Only by accepting Plaintiffs' counsel's confused perspective on traditional notions of foreseeability would this argument even suggest itself.

The Restatement provides:

## Additional Harm Resulting From Efforts to Mitigate Harm Caused by Negligence

If the negligent actor is liable for another's bodily injury, he is also subject to liability for any additional bodily harm resulting from normal efforts of third persons in rendering aid which the other's injury reasonably requires, irrespective of whether such acts are done in a proper or a negligent manner.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 457 (1965). "[T]he rationale of the rule, as expressed

in the Restatement, finds its basis in the risks which in view of 'human fallibility' are 'normally recognized as inherent in the necessity of submitting to medical, surgical or hospital treatment.' "Exner Sand & Gravel Corp. v. Petterson Lighterage & Towing Corp., 258 F.2d 1, 3 (2d Cir.1958) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 457, comment (d.)) Contrary to the plaintiffs' oversimplified approach, the "[a]dditional harm" to which the Restatement speaks is that caused by efforts to remedy the original harm. As one court put it,

The relationship between the harm inflicted by the first physician and the treatment initiated by the second is crucial to holding the first physician liable for subsequent malpractice. . . [A] physician could not "avoid liability for the harm caused by treatment from other physicians if his own negligence was the cause of the injury which necessitated that treatment . . The court had no difficulty linking the first physician's malpractice with that of the second. The first physician's negligence resulted in an identifiable harm; the second's course of treatment was designed to mitigate that harm. Under section 457, the first physician could be held liable for the malpractice of the second.

Daly v. United States, 946 F.2d 1467 (9th Cir. 1991). Plaintiffs ' argument is predicated entirely upon the temporal proximity of Alex Burnwatt's bleeding to the Code. Yet, it remains undisputed that Alex Burnwatt was not instructed to go to the hospital for bleeding nor was he bleeding upon arrival. Plaintiffs' expert is on record for disassociating actionable medical negligence from either post surgical dehydration/ vomiting and moderate post surgical bleeding. Tr. 87-88, R.E. 3. Indeed, Dr. Hayne's testimony is also consistent with this position. Supp. Tr. at 10-12. Plaintiffs ' entire argument against Mansel rests on conflating temporal proximity ("Alex Burnwatt's death. . . "precipitated by the bleeding") with proximate cause— the only proximity that legally matters:

[I]t is elemental that, in order that a wrongdoer may be held liable ... for

negligence, it is necessary to show that the injury complained of was the natural and probable result of the negligence ... 'Actionable fault on the part of a defendant must be predicated on action or nonaction accompanied by knowledge actual or implied of the facts which make the result of his conduct not only a probable result but a result also which he should, in view of these facts, have reasonably anticipated.' That a particular result was a possible result does not establish a case....

Jarbon v. State, 172 Miss. 135, 139-40, 159 So. 406, 407 (1937). In other words, if puncture of the lung by medical personnel attending Alex Burnwatt after he ceased breathing could not be reasonably foreseen by surgery within the standard of care on July 28, 2001, Dr. Laurenzo is simply not liable; the jury is not precluded from viewing the events of August 2nd other than through the lens fashioned by Plaintiffs ' theory of the case. In short, Plaintiffs ' argument for exclusion of Mansel on relevancy grounds has no merit and the lower court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the motion in limine.

#### D. Confusion of the Issues; Waste of Time; Estoppel

Plaintiffs 'Miss. R. Evid. 403 argument likewise fails as it rests completely on the notion that Mansel's testimony is not probative of any fact of consequence at issue in this case. For the reasons outlined in the previous discussion, Mansel's testimony is consistent with all medical personnel who attended Alex Burnwatt on August 2, 2001. That it is inconsistent with Plaintiffs ' theory of the case and Dr. Burton's opinion is of no moment; indeed, the scenario outlined by Mansel's testimony is expressly not ruled out by the pathologist performing the autopsy. Supp. Tr. at 20-23, R.E. 2. Defendants have never disputed what Hayne recognized as "heroic efforts" by the hospital in their course of dealings with Plaintiffs ' decedent. It was up to the Plaintiffs however to prove medical negligence against the hospital; whether such a claim was provable or not, they

utterly failed in that effort but Mansel's testimony does not attempt to revisit that question in any event. Defendants are entitled to explain to the jury what was occurring during the entire course of Alex Burnwatt's treatment and have no obligation to prove another parties' liability for the tragic and unfortunate death of Plaintiffs decedent by testimony from their own experts. *Blailock v. Hubbs*, 2005 WL 1385214 (Miss. App. May 26, 2005) While Mansel's testimony may have proved prejudicial to the Plaintiffs' case, it was not unfairly prejudicial inasmuch as Plaintiffs' right to recovery rested upon one theory of the case (exsanguation) while Defendants' defense rested upon a mutually exclusive other theory (pulmonary distress).

Even in jurisdictions that follow the Restatement, it is for the jury to decide whether or not the original party is or is not a "tortfeasor" to begin with. Plaintiffs acknowledge this fact. R. 486; Tr. 385 (Jury Instruction 14). Thus, an original tortfeasor may be held liable for subsequent injuries which were reasonably foreseeable, yet, it remains for the jury to decide, even in Restatement jurisdictions, the threshold issues of (1) whether the original physician was negligent and, if so, (2) whether plaintiffs' injuries were the result of *that underlying* negligence.<sup>6</sup>

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